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1. N arne of Property 

historic name Camden to Washington Road-Rosston Segment 

other names/site number Ecore Fabre to Washington Road, Washington Post Road, Military Road, Old Washington Road 
I Site# N£0164 

2. Location 

street & number Nevada County Road 10 

city or town Rosston 

D not for publication 

[8] vicinity 

state Arkansas code AR county Nevada code 099 zip code 

3. State/Federal Agency Certification 

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended, I hereby certify that this [8l nomination 0 
request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the National Register of Historic 
Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set for in 36 CFR Part 60. In my opinion, the property [8l meets 0 
does not meet the National Register criteria. I recommend that this property be considered significant 
0 nationally [8l state;;id 0 locally. (See continuation sheet for additional co nents.) 

'i 

Arkansas Historic Preservation Program 
State or Federal agency and bureau 

In my opinion, the property 0 meets 0 does not meet the National Register criteria. CD See Continuation sheet for additional 
comments.) 

Signature of certifying official!Title 

State or Federal agency and bureau 

al Park Service Certification 

I hereb~ ertify that the property is: 
entered in the National Register. 

0 See continuation sheet 
0 determined eligible for the 

National Register. 
0 See continuation sheet 

0 determined not eligible for the 
National Register. 

0 removed from the National 
Register. 

0 other, (explain:) 

Date 

71858 

Date of Action 



Camden to Washington Road-Rosston 
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5. Classification 

Ownership of Property Category of Property 
(Check as many boxes as apply) (Check only one box) 

D private D building(s) 

C8J public-local D district 

D public-State D site 

D public-Federal C8J structure 

D object 

Name of related multiple property listing 
(Enter "N/A" if property is not part of a multiple property listing.) 

N/A 

6. Function or Use 

Historic Functions 
(Enter categories from instructions) 

TRANSPORTATION/road-related 

7. Descri tion 

Architectural Classification 
(Enter categories from instructions) 

NO STYLE 

Narrative Description 

Nevada County, Arkansas 
County and State 

Number of Resources within Property 
(Do not include previously listed resources in count.) 

Contributing Noncontributing 

0 

buildings 

sites 

structures 

objects 

Total 

Number of Contributing resources previously listed 
in the National Register 

N/A 

Current Functions 
(Enter categories from instructions) 

TRANSPORTATION/road-related 

LANDSCAPE/unoccupied land 

Materials 
(Enter categories from instructions) 

foundation 

walls 

roof 

other SAND, GRAVEL, DIRT 

(Describe the historic and current condition ofthe property on one or more continuation sheets.) 
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Summary 

Nevada County, Arkansas 
County and State 

In 1821, the citizens of Hempstead County petitioned the Court of Common Pleas for the creation of a road 
from the seat of justice in Hempstead County to a point on the Ouachita that provided a navigable waterway. 
That point is now known as Camden, Arkansas. Early on they sought to create a road, though it may have 
been only the crudest marking of trees through a wilderness. With the shifting of the seat of justice to 
Washington in the mid-1820s, the path of the road was re-directed. With statehood, Hempstead County 
citizens petitioned the national government for support in making improvements to the efforts oflocal 
citizens on this road. Over the years, other routes to Washington from Camden were developed, but the 
Camden to Washington Road remained in regular use. For many years it was the official postal route from 
Camden to Washington and is still noted on the U.S. Geographical Survey topographical map as the 
Washington Post Road. Elements of the Confederate Army traveled from Washington to Poison Springs 
along this route to engage the Union Army in the Civil War. It was completely in Hempstead County until 
the formation ofUnion County in 1829. In 1842, it became apart ofwestem Ouachita County. In 1871 , it 
became a part of southeastern Nevada County. 

The stretch of road being nominated has retained its nineteenth century feeling and is still a part of the 
Nevada County county road network. Once a major thoroughfare, it remained in use as route between 
Camden and Washington well into the twentieth century. Now it is used primarily by foresters monitoring or 
cutting stands of timber, hunters, or recreational all terrain vehicle clubs. The activities ofbeaver on Cypress 
Creek have created a low water crossing that prohibits the passage of on-road vehicles, though four-wheelers 
can negotiate the water crossing. However, within living memory, this road went through to connect with the 
local road network. Its high banks attest to long years of use and road improvement activities that cut deep 
into the sandy terrain. 

Elaboration 

The Camden to Washington Road was first created in approximately 1821. This important roadway 
connected the settlements of southwest Arkansas with the primary center of government and more 
importantly, water transportation on the Ouachita River. Known under various names, the road is often 
called the Washington to Camden Road, the Camden to Washington Road, the Washington Post Road, or the 
Military Road. It is listed on modem maps as Washington Post Road or Nevada County Road 10. When 
completed, it ran from Ecore Fabre, now known as Camden, to Washington, a distance of approximately 
sixty miles. 
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The road segment being nominated is unimproved road. Approximately two and one-half miles long, the 
Rosston segment winds through a dense pine forest between Nevada County 47 (Kirk Road) on the west and 
Nevada County 46 on the east. At times the road cuts deeply into the sandy hills and is no more than 20 feet 
wide. 

There are few modern intrusions to the landscape. The primary intrusion is the practice of clear cut forestry. 
However, it should be noted that until approximately forty years ago this road traversed a farming landscape 
dotted with open pasture and crop lands. The second modern intrusion is that of hunting club lodges and 
ancillary facilities. Nonetheless, the road would be readily recognizable by anyone who traveled it in its 
antebellum years. 

The road is no more than twenty feet wide and is still a sand and dirt road with no evidence of having been 
macadamized, graveled, or paved. In many places the road is no more than ten to twelve feet wide, a 
common width for nineteenth century roads. It appears as if the original widths and embankments are extant. 
Deep U-shaped cuts in several places reveal a period oflong and heavy use. At one point the roadway splits, 
taking three paths down a gentle slope, conforming to the "multiple tracks" seen in similar historic roads. 
The road retains the physical characteristics of a nineteenth century roadbed. 1 In its unimproved state the 
road retains a strong feeling of association, workmanship, design, and materials consistent with a nineteenth 
century roadway. 

Integrity 

The stretch of road being nominated remains little changed but for the low water crossing created by beaver 
on Cypress Creek. Though many of the side roads that led to former farmsteads have grown up, some still 
exist. The road surface is still characteristic of roadways in antebellum Arkansas. Unlike many other 
sections of the Camden to Washington Road, this section has not become an improved gravel road, nor a 
portion of the modern paved road network. 

1 Phillip Thomason, Historic and Historical Archaeological Resources of the Cherokee Trail ofTears, Multiple Property Listing 
completed 30 July 2002 on file Arkansas Historic Preservation Program; F-9. 
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8. Statement of Significance 

Applicable National Register Criteria 
(Mark "x" in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property 

for National Register listing.) 

1:8] A Property is associated with events that have made 
a significant contribution to the broad patterns of 
our history. 

D B Property is associated with the lives of persons 
significant in our past. 

1:8] C Property embodies the distinctive characteristics 
of a type, period, or method of construction or 
represents the work of a master, or possesses 
high artistic values, or represents a significant and 
distinguishable entity whose components lack 
individual distinction. 

D D Property has yielded, or is likely to yield, 
information important in prehistory or history. 

Criteria Considerations 
(Mark "x" in all the boxes that apply.) 

Property is: 
D A owned by a religious institution or used for 

religious purposes. 

D B. removed from its original location. 

D C. birthplace or grave of a historical figure of outstanding 
importance. 

D D a cemetery. 

D E a reconstructed building, object, or structure. 

D F a commemorative property 

D G less than 50 years of age or achieved significance 
within the past 50 years. 

Narrative Statement of Significance 
(Explain the significance ofthe property on one or more continuation sheets.) 

9. Major Bibliographical References 

Bibliography 

Nevada County, Arkansas 
County and State 

Levels of Significance (local, state, national) 

STATE 

Areas of Significance (Enter categories from instructions) 

TRANSPORTATION 
COMMERCE 
EXPLORATION/SETTLEMENT 
MILITARY 

Period of Significance 
c.1825-1959 

Significant Dates 
c. 1825-1959 

Significant Person (Complete if Criterion 8 is marked) 

N/A 

Cultural Affiliation (Complete if Criterion Dis marked) 

N/A 

Architect/Builder 
N/A 

(Cite the books, articles, and other sources used in preparing this fonn on one or more continuation sheets.) 

Previous documentation on ftle (NPS): 
D preliminary determination of individual listing (36 

CFR 67) has been requested 
D previously listed in the National Register 
D Previously determined eligible by the National 

Register 
D designated a National Historic Landmark 
D recorded by Historic American Buildings Survey 

# 
D recorded by Historic American Engineering 

Record # 

Primary location of additional data: 
1:8] State Historic Preservation Office 
D Other State Agency 
D Federal Agency 
D Local Government 
D University 
1:8] Other 
Name of repository: 
Southwest Arkansas Regional Archives 
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Summary 

Nevada County, Arkansas 
County and State 

The Camden to Washington Road-Rosston Segment is being nominated to the National Register of Historic 
Places with statewide significance under Criterion A for its association with the establishment of 
transportation networks in Nevada County. It is also being listed under Criterion Cas a good example of 
19th century road construction in Nevada County, Arkansas. 

Elaboration 

The Camden to Washington Road, now Nevada County Road 10, runs through a heavily forested, thinly 
settled area. The vicinity is largely deserted. The land is no longer under cultivation except for forestry. 
Deer camps are common and vary from primitive camping to clusters of buildings. Hunters fill the woods 
along the road in the fall and winter. However, as recently as forty years ago, this area was marked with 
large fields under cultivation and family cotton farms dotted the countryside. The Carolina Methodist 
Church (NR listed 11311991) served as the spiritual and educational center for a large, rural community. 

Long an important thoroughfare, the Camden to Washington Road was, for almost one hundred and fifty 
years, one of the main roads across south Arkansas. Construction on the Camden to Washington Road began 
in approximately 1821. The goal of the construction was to connect the villages and settlements of southwest 
Arkansas with a navigable waterway at Ecore Fabre on the Ouachita River. When completed, the road was a 
link in a larger road network stretching from Villemonte on the Mississippi River to Warren, Camden, 
Washington and Fort Towson. It was an important link for points west to the steamboat transportation that 
came up the Ouachita, especially in the years before the Great Raft on the Red River was dislodged by 
Captain Shreve. It is also thought that some of the Choctaw who moved west to Indian Territory via Camden 
and Washington in the 1830s may have moved along this early road. 

Likely a combination of new construction connecting with preexisting trails, the Camden to Washington 
Road was approximately sixty miles long when completed. The road is clearly visible on the Bureau of Land 
Management survey maps just west of Camden. These plats, surveyed in 1821, show the road leaving 
Fabre's Bluff toward the north and west. The road continued west through Ranges seventeen and eighteen.2 

2 The road began on the east in Section 23 of Township 13 South, Range 17 West. It continued west though sections: 15, 16, 17, 
19, and 18. The road entered Township 13 South, Range 18 West in Section 13 and traveled west through sections: 13, 12, 11, 2, 
3, 4, 5, and 6. Surveyor ofPublic Lands, Little Rock, AR, David Fulton, Township 13 South of the baseline, Range 17 West of the 
51

h Prime Meridian [map], Scale: 40 chains to the inch. Little Rock, AR: privately printed, 1840. Available online at the Bureau of 
Land Management, General Land Office Records, http://www.glorecords.blm.gov, document management identifier 5426. 
Accessed 10 September 2008. Surveyor of Public Lands, Little Rock, AR, David Fulton, Township 13 South of the baseline, 
Range 18 West of the 5'h Prime Meridian [map], Scale: 40 chains to the inch. N.P.: privately printed, 1823. Available online at the 
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The road's path in early Hempstead County is more problematic due to the fact that the Land Surveyor's 
maps, completed in 1823, show no roads, fields, homes, or other landmarks. However, the selection of the 
road overseers provides clues to its early location in Hempstead County. The appointment of men like John 
Nunn, Robert B. Musick, and Martin Parmer as overseers of the road gives good clues to the route of the 
road prior to 1830. 

Caney Creek was a demarcation point for the boundaries of the areas of responsibility for the overseers in the 
1820s. Caney Creek runs north and south just east of Cale, Arkansas. Present-day Nevada County Road 10, 
listed on United States Geological Survey topographic maps as the Washington Post Road, crosses Caney 
Creek approximately two miles east of Cal e. After crossing the creek, County Road 10 continues east to 
intersect Nevada County Road 47 and the beginning of the Rosston Segment being nominated. From Cale, 
toward the west, the road headed northwest and crossed present-day US Highway 371 near Mt. Moriah 
Church; the first county seat ofNevada County at the time of the county's formation in 1871. It continued to 
the northwest through hilly terrain where its route can be partially traced by the location of a post office. The 
road continued west across present day Highway 53 near its junction with Highway 73 just to the east of 
Harmony Methodist Church and the small community of Sutton, Arkansas. It is in this vicinity that 
Trammel's "stand" or inn was located. 

Sam Williams, in his memoir Printer's Devil, makes note ofNicholas Trammel's place and its importance 
along the Camden to Washington Road.3 Born in Tennessee in the 1780s, Trammel was the son ofNicholas 
and Frances Maulding Trammel. In the late 1810s, he established Trammel's Trace, one of the earliest roads 
leading from southwest Arkansas into eastern Texas to Nacogdoches. By 1830, Nicholas Trammel was listed 
in the census as living in the Springhill Township ofHempstead County. On June 18, 1836, three days after 
Arkansas statehood, Nicholas Trammel entered 160 acres of public land in the Original Land Entries Book at 
Washington. It would be nearly seven years before he completed the process of acquiring this tract ofland. 
Finally, patented on March 1, 1843, Trammel's 160 acres consisted ofthe Southeast Quarter of Section 25, 
Township 12 South, Range 23 West. The pre-emption notation on the upper left-hand corner ofhis 
Certificate No. 2466 indicates that he had been squatting on the land prior to its sale. Trammel is spelled 
"Trammell" on the land patent. The site of the "stand" or inn that Trammel ran is believed to be on this land, 
now an almost impenetrable pine plantation. 

Bureau of Land Management, General Land Office Records, http://www.glorecords.blm.gov, document management identifier 
5430. Accessed 10 September 2008. 
3 Mary Medearis ed. Sam Williams: Printer's Devil (Hope, Arkansas: The Etter Printing Co., 1979. Second printing, 1990) 
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Certainly, Trammel lived on the high ground overlooking Terre Rouge Creek for some time before he 
officially entered the land to patent. A creek in the vicinity bears his name. More importantly, a petition by 
the Arkansas Territorial Assembly to Congress on October 24, 1835, sums up the need for roads in Arkansas 
and identifies Trammel's inn as already well-known and at a crucial junction of important existing roads. 
The petitioners noted: 

"Your memorialists the General Assembly of the Territory of Arkansas respectfully 
represent that the sparce population of our Territory renders them unable to open roads 
for their communication with the neighbouring States. That large bodies of the pub lick 
lands of the best quality are unavailable to the Government by the difficulties presented 
to the emigrant in reaching them with his family and property. That no section of 
Country illustrates the necessity of opening roads more than that which lies between 
Columbia on the Mississippi river and the Town of Washington in the county of 
Hempstead crossing Bayou Bartholomew at or near John Stuarts and the Washita at or 
near Ecora Fabra and intersecting the Military road leading from Natchitoches La. To 
Fort Towson near Tramels a well known stand on said road. Of the utility of this road 
none can doubt when they are apprised of the fact that it will connect by a good and 
direct land conveyance the Navigable waters of the Mississippi and Washita rivers with 
two important roads of our Territory for the opening of which large sums of money have 
been paid by the United States, to wit, The road leading from Natchitoches to Fort 
Towson and the road leading from Washington to Jackson."4 

Just to the south of Trammel's property was a tract that had been acquired by Martin Parmer in the 1820s. 
Parmer, like Trammel, had fled Mexican Texas because of his role in the Fredonian Revolt. Parmer's 
property was the east half of the Northeast Quarter of Section 36, Township 12 South, Range 23 West. 
Parmer had no land patent, but his son Isom (aka Isam or Isham) entered 80 acres in Hempstead County on 
August 11 , 1827, and had received a patent on December 10, 1827. Isom was only sixteen at the time and 
soon conveyed the land to his father in a deed dated Feb. 2, 1828 and recorded in Deed Book B, page 184. 
Parmer had apparently constructed a dwelling and taken up residence on the public lands in this portion of 
Hempstead County. He may have built his home on this very tract well before his son acquired title to it. He 
had already been appointed by the Court of Common Pleas on May 24, 1827, as the overseer of a road from 
Washington to his house. 

4 Clarence Edwin Carter, comp. and ed. , The Territorial Papers of the United States, Vol. XXI, The Territory of Arkansas, 1829-
1836 Continued (Washington, DC: United States Government Printing Office, 1954), 1111. 
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Parmer and his son soon fell afoul of federal authorities when Isom Parmer was charged with selling whiskey 
to the Indians. Within a short time, Martin Parmer sold out to George Hill of Clark County and disappeared 
with his family. Eventually, Parmer and his son would return to Texas and have a prominent role in the 
Texas Revolution. Nicholas Trammel purchased this same tract from Hill and his wife on December 14, 
1846. Trammel's deed is in Deed Book G, page 363. 

This tract and Trammel's 160 acres are now in Nevada County on Highway 73 just to the north and west of 
Sutton, Arkansas. An original survey from the County Clerk's office in the Hempstead County Courthouse 
shows the Camden to Washington Road running along present-day Highway 73 and another fork also marked 
Camden to Washington Road meandering through Sections 6, 5, 4, 3, 2, 1, 12, 13, 24, 25 and 36 including 
the Parmer tract in Township 12 South, Range 23 West. 

Parmer's homestead soon became a local landmark for designating maintenance and construction 
responsibilities on the western end of the road. On May 25, 1827, the court appointed William Hickman, a 
Justice of the Peace and prominent early citizen of Hempstead County, to apportion the hands for the care of 
the road to Parmer's home. In the March term of 1828, the Court of Common Pleas appointed road overseers 
to care for a road that was already in existence. Again using Parmer's home as a landmark, the court 
decreed: "On motion it is ordered that John Nunn be appointed Overseer of the Public Road from 
Washington to the Cote Fabre [sic]; and that Martin Parmer be appointed Overseer of the said Public road, 
from his own House to Caney Creek; and that Robert B. Musick be appointed Overseer of the road from 
Martin Parmer's to the Town ofWashington."5 Interestingly, in the same March term of 1828, Martin 
Parmer was granted a tavern license as soon as he produced a receipt from the sheriff for the required fee. It 
seems that Parmer intended to start a business on his land near this newly created and well traveled route. 
From this court action in 1828 it appears that a pre-existing road, perhaps John Johnson's road, and a newer 
road to the Musick place were being connected together as the Ecore Fabre to Washington Road and were 
being placed under the care of the persons who lived near them in the sparsely populated country. 

John Johnson's road was likely constructed in the early 1820s. Johnson, an early settler from Missouri 
proved to be an energetic businessman. Johnson was in Arkansas as early as 1815 conducting exploratory 
trips with his father-in-law William Stevenson. By 1818, Johnson, and other members of his family, settled 
in southwest Arkansas. An early merchant and sawmill owner in present-day Howard County, then 
Hempstead County, Johnson lived along Plum Creek, just to the north and west of Columbus, Arkansas. He 
patented lands there in Section 31 of Township 11 South, Range 27 West in 1827. 

5 Hempstead County Genealogical Society, Transcriber, Book C, Court of Common Pleas and Circuit Court, (Volume 1, 1824-
1828), Hempstead County, Arkansas Territory (Hope, Arkansas: Hempstead County Genealogical Society, 1993), 146. 
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Johnson partnered with Ephraim Mirick, another early merchant, to bring goods into the county from New 
Orleans up the Mississippi and Ouachita Rivers. Those goods had to come overland to his store. Sam 
Williams describes Johnson's efforts thus: "He and Ephraim Mirick went to New Orleans together at an 
early day, and each bought a stock of goods, which they jointly shipped up the Mississippi and Ouachita 
River to Ecore Fabre (now Camden.) Here Mirick remained to keep watch over the goods while Johnson 
pushed through to Washington to procure wagons and teams to haul them out. On the latter's down trip with 
the wagons he blazed and cut out the first wagon road ever opened between the point where Camden now is, 
and Washington. This was way back in the early twenties."6 

The establishment of Washington as county seat along the Southwest Trail in 1825 and the gradual growth of 
the territory set in motion increased road building. Subsequent road viewers seemingly built on John 
Johnson' s initial efforts. In November 1825, William Ashbrook and James Johnson reported to the court of 
Common Pleas that they had completed marking out a road leading from Washington to Musick's and in 
September 1826, R. B. Musick was appointed the overseer to care for the road from his house to 
Washington. 

Robert B. Musick, the overseer of the Camden to Washington Road from Parmer' s house to Washington, had 
no land patents in this early period. Early Hempstead County deed records, however, show R. B. Musick 
selling two tracts of land north of present-day Hope in 1824 and 1829. The tracts were near each other but 
not contiguous. Musick sold 80 acres to Samuel Howard for $225 on March 12, 1824. The deed is recorded 
in Deed Book B, page 284, and was the South half of the Northwest Quarter of Section 3, Township 12 
South, Range 24 West. On November 7, 1828, Musick and his wife Patsy sold the West half of the 
Southwest Quarter of Section 33 ofTownship 11 South Range 24 West to Hardin Wilson. The deed was 
recorded on August 8, 1829, in Deed Book B, page 311 . This 80-acre tract sold for $400, suggesting by its 
price that a house and other substantial improvements were on the property. This tract which probably 
contained Musick's house is just to the east of present-day Hempstead County Road 217, now a paved road 
that has been in use for many years. Hempstead County Road 46, a gravel and dirt road, veers off of 21 7 
and continues on into Washington on the northeast comer of Washington Corporation. It is marked in places 
by deep embankments and could well be part of the old Camden to Washington Road. 

Johnson and Miricks ' early efforts at road building illustrate the difficulties associated with conducting 
business and daily life in southwest Arkansas. Largely a rural area, even to the present day, decent roads 
were a necessity for connecting small farms, homesteads, and local markets to the larger economic network. 
As early as 1821 the Court of Common Pleas for Hempstead County was receiving petitions for a road to 
Camden. 

6 Medearis, 177. 
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In the July 1821, session ofthe Common Pleas Court, Judges Isaac Pennington, John English and William 
Woodward addressed the needs of Hempstead County's citizens with this order: "On petition of sundrey 
[sic] citizens of the county of Hempstead praying for a public road to be laid and beginning at the present 
Seat of Justice running thence the most direct and practicable rout [sic] to the Corafabre [sic] on the River 
Ouichita [sic] and it is further ordered that John McLeland Richard Tate William Ashbrook and Stephen 
Vaughan be appointed reviewers to mark and lay out said road and return their proceedings to the next term 
of this court." 7 

What road these men laid out is now no longer certain, for the seat of justice was changed from the home of 
John English in the Marlbrook settlement to the newly-laid out town of Washington, a somewhat more 
central location in the county. As early as the March Term, 1824, the Court of Common Pleas was meeting 
at the home of Elijah Stuart in Washington. On October 10, 1825, the Territorial Assembly approved 
Washington as the seat of justice for Hempstead County. Thus the direction of the road was changed toward 
Washington and the road became the Ecore Fabre to Washington Road. 

Just as Johnson and Mirick played a prominent role in constructing the western end ofthe Camden to 
Washington Road, John Nunn was a central figure in construction of the eastern end. John Nunn, the road 
overseer from Ecore Fabre to Caney Creek, was an important local official in early Hempstead County. He 
was one of the commissioners that selected the site of Washington for the county seat, and he served as a 
justice of the peace. Nunn is most closely identified, however, with the development of early Camden and 
Ouachita County, then located in Hempstead County. He arrived at Ecore Fabre in 1824, becoming its first 
permanent American settler. A native of Georgia, Nunn and his brother planned to move freight up the 
Ouachita to Ecore Fabre and then pole it by keelboat farther up the Ouachita and the Little Missouri to a 
point near Washington. Steamboats began to arrive at Ecore Fabre in 1824 and 1825 and travel to 
Washington by this route was heavy until the early 1830s. 

Despite the popularity of this route, low water above Ecore Fabre would have prevented transportation on 
this river for much ofthe year, necessitating the Camden to Washington Road. Like Johnson, Nunn's efforts 
at road building and maintenance were, though standard practice, very crude efforts. Standard road building 
efforts of the early 181 Os and 1820s consisted of blazing a trail, marking the trail, removing saplings and 
brush to the ground, and removing trees. Tree stumps of varying heights were left in the roadway to rot. 
Often these paths were no wider than one wagon width and little effort was made to provide safe, dependable 
water crossings. In wet weather these early roads quickly became impassable. Many early roads were often 
called roads to nowhere as they frequently led from a home to a creek or home to fields. 

7 Hempstead County Genealogical Society, Transcriber, Court of Common Pleas and Circuit Court, Hempstead County, Arkansas 
Territory, 1819-1822 (Hope, Arkansas: Hempstead County Genealogical Society, 1990), 64. 
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A few roads connected farmers with market centers but the majority of antebellum roads were for limited 
local use. Nevertheless, the Court of Pleas efforts at connecting existing "roads to nowhere" into a longer 
roadway were ambitious and to be applauded.8 

In 1829, Union County was formed. The Rosston segment of the Camden to Washington Road became a 
part of that county and left the jurisdiction of the Hempstead County Court of Common Pleas. About 183 0, 
the function of the Common Pleas Court was split into the Circuit Court and the County Court. Further 
information on the care and maintenance of the road under study is in the Union County county court records 
until 1842. In 1842, Ouachita County was created. The segment of road under study became a part of that 
new county and remained in that county until 1871. The Ouachita County court records were destroyed by a 
courthouse fire in 1875. With the creation ofNevada County, Arkansas, in 1871 , the segment of road under 
study fell under the care ofNevada County where it remains today. 

The Rosston Segment of the Camden to Washington Road being nominated is approximately twenty-one 
miles from Camden and forty miles from Washington. This segment of unimproved road runs from Nevada 
County Road 46 on the east to Nevada County Road 4 7, also known as Kirk Road, on the west. The 
approximately 2.5 mile long segment is in Sections 21 , 22, and 23 of Township 13 South, Range 20 West. 
Most of the land along the segment of road under study was patented, with some exceptions, in the 1850s. A 
post office, named Caney, was established at Marsh's store in Section 17 ofTownship 13 South Range 20 
West on the Washington to Camden Road in 1850. The store and post office became the focal point of a 
scattered rural community known as Caney. The post office continued in operation until 1906. 

William Marsh owned the store shown on an 1865 map produced by the Confederate army and served as the 
postmaster. This map of Ouachita County is a valuable detailed resource showing not only the road network 
but the cultivated fields and the farmers who work the fields. Among the different roads shown, the map 
includes the Camden to Washington Road, the Old Moss Road, and the Anderson Road. Even at this early 
date the map refers to the Rosston Segment as the Old Washington Road. 

The family of William and Rebecca Marsh emigrated to Ouachita County from Fayetteville, North Carolina, 
in 1849. William and Rebecca were married in North Carolina in 1845 and came to Arkansas seeking new 
opportunities. William was a merchant and farmer in both North Carolina and Arkansas. William's son 
John followed his father into the retail business, most likely continuing to operate his father's store. 

8 Robert Scoggin, "Roads and Highways," The Encyclopedia of Arkansas History and Culture available online at 
http: //encyclopediaofarkansas.net/ accessed 10 September 2008. This entry provides a very detailed but concise history of roads 
and road law in Arkansas. 
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Two other sons, William E. and Dr. George 0., managed sizeable and successful farms in the area near the 
store and the Rosston Segment of the Camden to Washington Road. Dr. George was also one of the few 
physicians in the area and his services were therefore in high demand. The Marsh family were all of the 
Methodist Episcopal faith and more than likely were prominent members of the Carolina Methodist Church.9 

Along with the Marsh family the Magness family was well known in the area. James Magness was an early 
settler along the road who made his living trapping, hunting and operating a crude inn for travelers in the 
sparsely populated region. Sam Williams described the locale thus: 

"People traveling from Washington to Camden, used frequently to stay all night at Magness', although it 
was a pretty rough place to stop. For a long time there were only about four houses on the road between 
Washington and Camden. One was at the Williamson place, six miles from Washington; then Capt. James 
Cantley' s twelve miles; then old Nick Trammell's, twenty miles; then the Magness place, forty miles, 
between which and Camden, a distance of twenty miles, there was not a solitary house. It was a matter of 
necessity to stop there, ifthe accommodations were somewhat rough." 10 

Magness was a rough frontiersman and early settler who married into the well known Tate family of 
Ouachita County. Magness owned land on the south side of the Camden to Washington Road in the vicinity 
of the Carolina Church. He received land patents on lands in Sections 22 and 27 of Township 13 South, 
Range 20 West in 1837 and 1839 and in Section 13 ofTownship 13 South, Range 21 West in 1850. His 
daughter Cassandra Magness, whom Williams also describes, received a land patent on forty acres in Section 
21 ofTownship 13 South Range 20 West in 1839. W. C. Hatley, who patented lands in the 1840s, purchased 
Magness' interests in the area. The location ofhis farm can be seen on the 1865 Confederate Army map. 

The length of the Camden to Washington Road and the western and eastern termini made it a market road. 
Lesser feeder roads connected from the north and south. Caney, established circa 1850, was on the wane by 
1900 and had its post office discontinued in 1906. The Carolina Methodist Episcopal Church (NR listed 
1/3/1991) was started in approximately 1856. The current location ofthe church was purchased from the 
John W. Shell and W. C. Hatley families in 1870. Construction ofthe church was completed in 1871 .11 It 
remained a center for religion and education until well into the twentieth century. 

9 Goodspeed Publishing Company. The Goodspeed Biographical and Historical Memoirs of Southern Arkansas (Chicago: The 
Goodspeed Publishing Company, 1890; reprint Easley, SC: The Southern Historical Press, 1978), 577. 
10 Medearis, 167. 
11 Lisa Screeton, "Carolina Methodist Church," National Register of Historic Places nomination, November 14, 1990. On file at 
the Arkansas Historic Preservation Program, Little Rock, Arkansas . 
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Carolina Methodist Church quickly became and long remained, with regular services until 1977, important to 
the community along the Camden to Washington Road. It served the religious needs ofboth races in the 
area. As was common to Methodist Church architecture in the antebellum south, black parishioners used 
second floor balcony to attend the service. Further solidifying its importance, the church ground was also the 
site of a school. 

Established shortly after the Civil War the school served the local community well into the 20th century. 
Mrs. Claudie White of Rosston, now in her late eighties, remembers her mother teaching at Carolina in the 
1930s. The church was called Carolina and the area was often referred to as the Carolina Settlement during 
the antebellum period because so many of the settlers migrated there from both North and South Carolina. 

With the end of slavery and the coming of the railroad in the 1870s, many people from this area moved to 
Prescott and Camden to become merchants, businessmen, professional men and county officials in the new 
railroad town and the old river town of the New South. Farming along the Rosston Segment continued until 
well into the 20th century. However, a complex set of events including the Great Depression, the rise of 
mechanization in farming, and the development of the automobile, among many others, caused a general 
decline of the community. During World War II many of the remaining farmers left seeking job 
opportunities in the towns and cities. Today this area, once part of an important early thoroughfare, is largely 
depopulated and deserted. 

Statement of Significance 

The Camden to Washington Road, Rosston Segment is being nominated to the National Register of Historic 
Places with statewide significance under Criterion A for its association with the establishment of 
transportation networks in Nevada County. It is also being listed under Criterion Cas a good example of 
19th century road construction in Nevada County, Arkansas. 
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Zone 

2 15 

483704 
Easting 

483847 
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Northing 

3717195 

Verbal Boundary Description 
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Boundary Justification 
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Nevada County, Arkansas 
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Zone 
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3717040 
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3716894 
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city or town Little Rock state 
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Continuation Sheets 

Maps 
A USGS map (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicating the property's location 

date 

telephone 

AR 

18 April 2008 

(501) 324-9880 

zip code 72201 

A Sketch map for historic districts and properties having large acreage or numerous resources. 

Photographs 

Representative black and white photographs of the property. 
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(Check with the SHPO or FPO for any additional items.) 

Property Owner 
(Complete this item at the request of SHPO or FPO.) 

name County Judge Baker Butler 

street & number Nevada County Courthouse telephone 870-887-3115 

city or town Prescott state AR zip code 71857 
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listing or detennine eligibility for listing, to list properties, and to amend existing listing. Response to this request is required to obtain a benefit in accordance 
with the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended (16 U.S.C. 470 et seq.) 

Estimated Burden Statement: Public reporting burden for this fonn is estimated to average 18.1 hours per response including time for reviewing instructions, 
gathering and maintaining data, and completing and reviewing the fonn. Direct comments regarding this burden estimate or any aspect of this form to the Chief, 
Administrative Services Division, National Park Service, P. 0 . Box 37127, Washington, DC 20013-7127; and the Office of Management and Budget, Paperwork 
Reductions Projects (I 024-00 18), Washington, DC 20303 . 
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That segment of Nevada County Road 10 running between the intersections of County Road 10 and County 
46 on the east end, and County Road 10 and County Road 47 on the west end. Running through Sections 23 , 
22, and 21 ofTownship 13 South, Range 20 West. 

The segment of road listed on the USGS Waterloo Quad as "the Washington Post Road." Beginning at a 
point at the intersection of Nevada County Road 47 (Kirk Road) and extending easterly approximately 2.5 
miles. The width being twenty-five feet from the centerline of said road to each side for a total width of 50 
feet. The point ofbeginning (A) being UTM 15S 483704 E 3717288 Nand continuing through points: 
B. 15S 483847E 3717195N 
C. 15S 484048E 3717040N 
D. 15S 484327E 3716894N 
E. 15S 484089E 3717018N 
F. 15S 484192E 3716939N 
G. 15S 484328E 3716895N 
H. 15S 484534E 3716848N 
I. 15S 484674E 3716888N 
J. 15S 484818E 3716913N 
K. 15S 485055E 3716900N 
L. 15S 485253E 3716890N 
M. 15S 485343E 3716900N 
N. 15S 485401E 3716892N 
0. 15S 485481E 3716938N 
P. 15S 485611E 3716955N 
Q. 15S 485645E 3716938N 
R. 15S 485691E 3716891N 
S. 15S 485776E 3716840N 
T. 15S 485894E 3716804N 
U. 15S 486404E 3716668N 
v. 15S 486803E 3716789N 
w. 15S 486882E 3716874N 
X. 15S 486936E 3716943N 
Y. 15S 487054E 3717057N 
Z. 15S 487093E 371711 ON 
AA. ISS 487145E 3717187N 
AB. 15S 487212E 3717279N 
A C. 15S 487274E 3717336N 
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AD. 15S 487347E 3717387N 
AE. 15S 487383E 3717404N 

Boundary Justification 
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County and State 

This description includes all the land historically associated with the Camden to Washington Road, Rosston 
Segment. 
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